RECEIVED

FEB 10 2015

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM ORANGEBURG COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
Maite D. Murphy, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No.: 2014-001492

Meredith Huffman.....Appellant,

v.

Sunshine Recycling, LLC and
Aiken Electric Cooperative, Inc.Respondents,

APPELLANT'S FINAL BRIEF

Robert F. Goings, Esquire
Goings Law Firm, LLC
914 Richland Street, Suite A-101
Post Office Box 436 (29202)
Columbia, South Carolina 29201
(803) 350-9230

J. Todd Rutherford, Esquire
The Rutherford Law Firm, LLC
2113 Park Street
P.O. Box 1452
Columbia, South Carolina 29202
(803) 256-3003

Attorneys for Appellant

Columbia, South Carolina

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

1. Did the Circuit Court err in Granting Summary Judgment for False Arrest?
2. Did the Circuit Court err in Granting Summary Judgment for Malicious Prosecution?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On May 17, 2010, Plaintiff Meredith Huffman (“Huffman”) lawfully sold scrap metal to Sunshine Recycling, LLC (“Sunshine Recycling”) in Orangeburg, South Carolina for recycling. Almost fifteen (15) days later, Ms. Huffman was arrested based on false accusations made by both Sunshine Recycling and Aiken Electric Cooperative, Inc. (“Aiken Electric”) that she had received stolen metal from Aiken Electric. After she was arrested and imprisoned, the criminal court dismissed the charge since Sunshine Recycling and Aiken Electric had accused the wrong person.

Huffman brought this civil action against Sunshine Recycling and Aiken Electric based on her wrongful arrest. Huffman alleged claims for Negligence, False Imprisonment, and Malicious Prosecution against the defendants. Huffman requested a jury trial.

The original complaint was filed on May 9, 2012. Sunshine Recycling filed an Answer denying the allegations. After preliminary discovery was exchanged, on May 24, 2013, Huffman filed an Amended Complaint adding Aiken Electric as a defendant. On June 27, 2013, Aiken Electric moved to dismiss the Amended Complaint. On January 30, 2014, Sunshine Recycling moved for summary judgment. On March 10, 2014, the Circuit Court heard the motions to dismiss and for summary judgment. (R. p. 290-323). On April 9, 2014, the Circuit Court entered an Order granting summary judgment on all causes of action against Huffman. Huffman timely filed a Motion to Reconsider, Alter,

or Amend the Order Granting Summary Judgment pursuant to Rule 59(e), SCRCF. On June 19, 2014, the Circuit Court summarily denied Plaintiff's motion pursuant to Rule 59(e), SCRCF. Huffman filed the Notice of Appeal on July 11, 2014. This appeal follows.

FACTS

On May 17, 2010, Huffman lawfully brought in scrap metal for recycling to Sunshine Recycling. (R. pp. 750-751). The metal was from an abandoned mobile home located on property that Huffman owned. (R. p. 750). The metal consisted of *old* aluminum sheeting and *old* electrical wiring that was from the mobile home. (R. p. 751). Sunshine Recycling paid Huffman \$53.00. (R. p. 752). Several weeks later, she was wrongfully accused of being in possession of stolen metal from Aiken Electric.

Unbeknownst to Huffman, Aiken Electric had experienced a theft of *new* cooper and *new* aluminum wiring. (r. p. 644). Mr. Mark Goss of Aiken Electric reported the theft to the Orangeburg County Sheriff's Department ("Sheriff's Department"). (R. pp. 644-645). The amount of the new metal stolen from Aiken Electric was estimated around \$330.00, and described as "(1) 60ft cooper [wire], (2) #6 cooper [wire], (1) roll of aluminum [wire]." (R. pp. 648-649). This metal is not anywhere close as the same *type, shape, color, or amount* that Huffman sold.

On the morning of May 17, 2010, Mr. Goss of Aiken Electric and Joseph Rich, owner of Sunshine Recycling, met with the Sheriff's Department regarding the stolen metal. (R. pp. 341; 651). Mr. Goss identified the metal that Huffman brought in as stolen from Aiken Electric. (R. pp. 344; 495-497; 657; 663). Mr. Goss and Mr. Rich showed Officer Aldridge the video of Huffman at Sunshine Recycling and a copy of her

receipt. (R. pp. 43; 344; 494-495; 498-499; 853). On the video, Mr. Goss and Mr. Rich identified Huffman as the person that sold the stolen metal from Aiken Electric to Sunshine Recycling. (R. pp. 43; 341; 344-345; 498-499; 792). Additionally, Mr. Goss told the officers that he “actually spoke and carried on a conversation with Huffman while she as waiting to get paid for the items that she had just brought in...[and] viewed the items after she left and identified them as being [from Aiken Electric.]” (R. pp. 405; 493). The next day, Mr. Rich told Officer Ethridge that “his employees that work in the copper area advised that Huffman was the individual who brought the merchandised in [to Sunshine Recycling].” (R. pp. 405; 499; 668-669; 850-851). An employee of Aiken Electric, Charles Rushton, also told the Sheriff’s Department that “Mark Goss ha[d] the identity of the woman who sold the wire,” referring again to Huffman.

After Sunshine Recycling and Aiken Electric had accused Huffman, Aiken Electric continued to strongly urge the Sheriff’s Department to arrest Huffman. (r. pp. 347; 373; 500-501). Officer Aldridge testified that Sunshine Recycling and Aiken Electric expressed a great “sense of urgency” to arrest Huffman. Sunshine Recycling and Aiken Electric pressed for the Sheriff’s Department to arrest Huffman and continued to accuse Huffman as the criminal, even though no evidence supported these baseless accusations. All Sunshine Recycling and Aiken Electric had to do was review the video surveillance, which clearly proves that Huffman was not the person that brought in the alleged stolen goods to Sunshine Recycling. (R. pp. 348-350; 506-507). Even a cursory review of the surveillance video clearly shows that a black male, not a white female, had brought in the metal that fit the description of what was stolen. (R. pp. 348-350; 506-507). Huffman is not a male and not black. If the video was not enough, the receipts

proved that Huffman did not bring in the stolen metal, nor was she paid for the stolen metal. As indicated on the video and Huffman's receipt, the type of metal that she brought in (i.e. *old* aluminum sheeting, *old* electrical wiring) was not the type of *new and unused* metal that was stolen from Aiken Electric. (R. pp. 506-508). Also, Huffman did not sell the same quantity of metal. The metal that Huffman was paid for totaled \$53.00, whereas the metal that was stolen was valued at \$330.00. Any reasonable review of the totality of the evidence would have plainly revealed to Sunshine Recycling and Aiken Electric that Huffman was not a suspect or responsible in any manner for the alleged crime.

Based on the accusations of Sunshine Recycling and Aiken Electric, on May 21, 2010, the Sheriff's Department issued an arrest warrant of Huffman for receiving stolen goods in violation of S.C. Code Ann 16-13-180. (R. pp. 501-502). On June 2, 2010, Huffman was arrested and booked as an inmate at the Orangeburg-Calhoun Regional Detention Center. (R. pp. 754-758; 793-794; 504-506). Huffman told the arresting officer that he had arrested the wrong person because the metal that she took to Sunshine Recycling was old aluminum sheeting and old electrical wiring from her mobile home. (R. pp. 504; 678; 792). After being incarcerated, she was released on bond. (R. pp. 758; 794; 506). The Sheriff's Department then obtained a copy of the surveillance video from Sunshine Recycling that plainly showed the stolen goods were brought in by a black male. (R. pp. 348-350; 506-507). The video does not show Huffman with the type of metal that was stolen (new wiring vs. old aluminum sheeting), and the invoice associated with the black male totaled \$350.00, which very closely resembled Aiken Electric's

description of the stolen metal and estimated price of \$330.00, not Huffman's invoice of \$53.00. (R. pp. 506-508).

Despite the clear evidence that Huffman was wrongfully arrested, Sunshine Recycling and Aiken Electric continued to accuse her as the person who committed the crime. (R. pp. 406; 507). After the Sheriff's Department reviewed the video a second time with Sunshine Recycling for the purpose of pointing out that Ms. Huffman was not responsible, the owner of Sunshine Recycling, Mr. Rich, still pressed for her conviction and demanded to "come and testify [against Ms. Huffman] in court." (R. pp. 406; 507). The fact that Sunshine Recycling and Aiken Electric pressed the Sheriff's Department to continue to prosecute Huffman even after being confronted by the Sheriff's Department is appalling. (R. pp. 406; 507). Officer Ethridge's report stated, "*At this time I am not comfortable with this case due to the witnesses gave [sic] me false information the first time.*" (R. pp. 407; 512-513). (emphasis added).

Without any dispute, Huffman was arrested because Sunshine Recycling and Aiken Electric identified and accused her as the person who brought in the stolen metal. The Sheriff's officers testified that Huffman was arrested because of Sunshine Recycling and Aiken Electric' accusation of her, and if they were told all the facts, then Huffman would not have been arrested. (R. pp. 406; 512-513). Sunshine Recycling and Aiken Electric continued to press the Sheriff's Department for her arrest in the face of no proof that Huffman was involved with stolen metal and overwhelmingly clear exculpatory evidence.

Ms. Huffman appeared in court for her scheduled court date. (R. p. 511). The charges against Ms. Huffman were dismissed on grounds consistent with her innocence.

(R. pp. 510-511). Afterwards, on June 21, 2010, the black male shown on the video was arrested and pled guilty. (R. pp. 348-350; 509).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Rule 56(c), SCRCF, provides that summary judgment shall be granted when “the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law.” “At the summary judgment stage of litigation, the court does not weigh conflicting evidence with respect to a disputed material fact.” *S.C. Prop. & Cas. Guar. Ass’n v. Yensen*, 345 S.C. 512, 518, 548 S.E.2d 880, 883 (Ct. App. 2001). “In cases applying the preponderance of the evidence burden of proof, the non-moving party is only required to submit a mere scintilla of evidence in order to withstand a motion for summary judgment.” *Hancock v. Mid-South Mgmt. Co.*, 381 S.C. 326, 330, 673 S.E.2d 801, 803 (2009). “In determining whether any triable issues of fact exist, the evidence and all inferences which can be reasonably drawn from the evidence must be viewed in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party.” *Id.* at 329-30, 673 S.E.2d at 802.

ARGUMENT

I. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN GRANTING SUMMARY JUDGMENT FOR FALSE ARREST BECAUSE GENUINE ISSUES OF MATERIAL FACT REMAINS FOR A JURY.

False arrest is “deprivation of a person’s liberty without justification.” *Caldwell v. K-Mart Corp.*, 306 S.C. 27, 30, 410 S.E.2d 21, 23 (Ct. App. 1991). “In order to recover under a theory of false imprisonment, the complainant must establish (1) the defendant restrained him; (2) the restraint was intentional; and (3) the restraint was

unlawful.” *Jones v. Winn-Dixie Greenville*, 318 S.C. 171, 175, 456 S.E.2d 429, 432 (S.C. Ct. App. 1995). “The tort of false imprisonment does not require an actual injurious touching. False imprisonment may be committed by words alone, or by acts alone or by both, and by merely operating on the will of the individual, or by personal violence, or by both.” *Id.* A defendant can be liable for the tort of false arrest even if the police effectuated the arrest. “The charge of false imprisonment is not confined to the party who unlawfully seizes or restrains another, but it likewise extends to any person who may cause, instigate or procure an unlawful arrest.” *Wingate v. Postal Tel. & Cable Co.*, 204 S.C. 520, 528, 30 S.E.2d 307, 311 (1944). “[W]here a private person induces an officer by request, direction or command to unlawfully arrest another, he is liable for false imprisonment.” *Id.*

“An action for false imprisonment may not be maintained where the plaintiff was arrested by lawful authority.” *Gist v. Berkeley County Sheriff’s Dep’t*, 336 S.C. 611, 615 (Ct. App. 1999). The fundamental issue in determining lawful authority turns on probable cause. *Wortman v. Spartanburg*, 310 S.C. 1, 4, 425 S.E.2d 18, 20 (S.C. 1992); *Jones v. City of Columbia*, 301 S.C. 62, 389 S.E.2d 662 (S.C. 1990). Thus, the linchpin of a false arrest claim is causing a person to be arrested without probable cause.¹

Here, a genuine issue of material fact exists to support a claim against Sunshine Recycling and Aiken Electric for false arrest. The Circuit Court erred in finding that Sunshine Recycling and Aiken Electric did not deprive Huffman of her liberties. The Circuit Court incorrectly found that “plaintiff has failed to produce any evidence that

¹ The Circuit Court did not analyze or consider probable cause in granting summary judgment for False Arrest. However, probable cause is discussed in the following argument regarding malicious prosecution.

defendants deprived her of her liberty in any way. There has been no evidence produced that defendants physically restricted plaintiff or by their words or conduct, constructively restrained plaintiff.” (R. p. 7). This finding is both legally and factually erroneous.

First, the Circuit Court ignored the well-established legal principle that a private person can be liable for the tort of false arrest even if the police effectuated the arrest. “The charge of false imprisonment is not confined to the party who unlawfully seizes or restrains another, but it likewise extends to any person who may cause, instigate or procure an unlawful arrest.” *Wingate v. Postal Tel. & Cable Co.*, 204 S.C. 520, 528, 30 S.E.2d 307, 311 (1944). Huffman argued before the Circuit Court that summary judgment should be denied as to false arrest because Sunshine Recycling and Aiken Electric caused and instigated the Sheriff’s Department to arrest her. (R. pp. 106-108). The Circuit Court should be reversed based on this error of law.

Second, the Circuit Court misconstrued the evidence, failed to construe the evidence and all reasonable inferences in favor of Huffman, and omitted and ignored material evidence in finding that these defendants did not deprive Huffman of her liberty. The evidence is overwhelming that Huffman was arrested because of the words and conduct of Sunshine Recycling and Aiken Electric. These two companies identified and accused Huffman of committing a crime. These two companies urged the Sheriff’s Department to arrest Huffman and intended to testify against her in the criminal proceeding. The allegations made by Sunshine Recycling and Aiken Electric caused Huffman to be wrongfully arrested, booked, and incarcerated. The Sheriff’s officers testified that Huffman was arrested based on these accusations, and if they were told all the facts, then Huffman would not have been arrested. Just because Sunshine Recycling

and Aiken Electric were not the parties that actually handcuffed and detained her, Sunshine Recycling and Aiken Electric caused the Sheriff's Department to arrest her. A genuine issue of fact remains for a jury to determine if Sunshine Recycling and Aiken Electric caused, instigated, or procured Huffman's arrest. Thus, the Circuit Court erred in granting summary judgment as to False Arrest.

II. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN GRANTING SUMMARY JUDGMENT FOR MALICIOUS PROSECUTION BECAUSE GENUINE ISSUES OF MATERIAL FACT REMAINS FOR A JURY.

In order to recover in an action for malicious prosecution, the plaintiff must show (1) the institution or continuation of the original judicial proceedings, either civil or criminal; (2) by, *or at the instance of*, the defendant; (3) termination of such proceeding in the plaintiff's favor; (4) malice in instituting such proceedings; (5) lack of probable cause; and (6) resulting injury or damage. *Ruff v. Eckerds Drugs, Inc.*, 265 S.C. 563, 566, 220 S.E.2d 649, 651 (1975). A genuine issue of material fact exists to support all the elements of proof for Malicious Prosecution.

In dismissing the Malicious Prosecution claim, the Circuit Court found the following:

Plaintiff's cause of action against defendants for malicious prosecution fails because there is no evidence that the proceedings against her were initiated by the defendants maliciously and without probable cause. Here, the defendants assisted and cooperated with the investigation. They did not institute the investigation or prosecution, nor did they assist with malice. Citizens are encouraged, if not obligated, to assist in investigations of potential crimes. Once the Hispanic employee reported that the plaintiff was the person who brought the stolen goods in for sale, that information would cause a reasonable person to believe that the plaintiff was guilty of the crime charged. In an action for malicious prosecution, a defendant must be absolved from liability unless the plaintiff shows that the prosecution

was instituted maliciously. Here, the defendants cooperated with law enforcement and discharged their civic and moral duty to cooperate fully and voluntarily with law enforcement. The Orangeburg County Sheriff's Department, not the defendants, made the decision to take out a warrant and have the plaintiff arrested. There is no evidence that the defendants acted maliciously in connection with the plaintiff's arrest or acted without probable cause. Furthermore, the plaintiff has failed to identify genuine issues of material facts related to the elements of malicious prosecution. I find that there are no genuine issues of material fact and that judgment should be entered in favor of the defendants. (R. pp. 8-9).

This holding is in error on many levels. First, the record is replete with evidence that Huffman was charged at the instance of Sunshine Recycling and Aiken Electric. While the Sheriff's Department formally charged Huffman, it was Sunshine Recycling and Aiken Electric who initiated the criminal charge. No one other than these two companies identified Huffman as the "suspect" and the person in possession of the stolen metal. (R. pp. 43; 341; 344-345; 498-499). The evidence is overwhelming that the Sunshine Recycling and Aiken Electric were affirmatively active in instigating or participating in the institution of charging Huffman with a crime. *See Gibson v. Brown*, 245 S.C. 547, 549, 141 S.E.2d 653, 654 (1965) ("All persons who participate in a malicious prosecution are jointly liable for the resulting injury, and joint liability for a malicious prosecution may exist without reference to the existence of any conspiracy" and the defendant "caused one to be maintained or had voluntarily aided or assisted."); 52 Am. Jur. 2d *Malicious Prosecution* § 88 ("One who advises and procures another to institute proceedings, or aids and assists another in carrying on the prosecution, may [be liable for malicious prosecution]....Liability thus depends on whether the defendant was actively instrumental in causing the prosecution, and the presumption of prosecutorial

independence can be overcome by showing that the defendant improperly exerted pressure on the prosecutor, knowingly provided misinformation to him or her, concealed exculpatory evidence, or otherwise engaged in wrongful or bad-faith conduct instrumental in the initiation of the prosecution.”).

Sunshine Recycling and Aiken Electric did not merely “assist or cooperate with the investigation” as the Circuit Court concluded. At the outset, the fact that one is found to “assist or cooperate with the investigation” does not absolve a party from liability for malicious prosecution. This finding actually supports the first and second elements of malicious prosecution. The fact that one actively assists or cooperates with an investigation supports a claim for malicious prosecution, especially in this case by providing false information.

More importantly, the Circuit Court erroneously invaded the province of a jury by reaching this factual determination. At the summary judgment stage, the Circuit Court should not weigh the evidence. *L & W Wholesale, Inc. v. Gore*, 305 S.C. 250, 253, 407 S.E.2d 658, 659 (Ct. App. 1991) (stating at the summary judgment stage of litigation, the trial court does not weigh conflicting evidence regarding a disputed material fact and does not make credibility determinations). The Circuit Court weighed the evidence to conclude that the Respondents “assisted” and “cooperated” with the investigation instead of reviewing the record for a mere scintilla of evidence in dispute.

The record before this Court fully supports that Sunshine Recycling and Aiken Electric advised and procured the Sheriff’s Department in charging Huffman, and at the very least, aided and assisted in her arrest. Without dispute, these two companies contacted the Sheriff’s Department and affirmatively accused and identified Huffman as

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