IN THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM ORANGEBURG COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Maite D. Murphy, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2014-001492

RECEIVED

FEB 18 2015

SC Court of Appeals

Meredith Huffman Appellant

vs.

Sunshine Recycling, LLC and Aiken Electric Cooperative, Inc. Respondents

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT
AIKEN ELECTRIC COOPERATIVE, INC.**

Pope D. Johnson, III
Attorney at Law
1230 Richland Street
Columbia, SC 29201
803-799-9791
803-253-6084 (fax)
pope@popejohnsonlaw.com
**Attorney for the Respondent
Aiken Electric Cooperative, Inc.**

IN THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM ORANGEBURG COUNTY

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

Deputy Ethridge, who took over the investigation, did not interview the Hispanic employee or call for an interpreter to interview him. (R. p. 559, lines 6-22) He did not study the Appellant’s sales receipt and compare it to the stolen goods. Deputy Ethridge did not wait to review the Sunshine Recycling video. Instead he contacted the Appellant to come in. (R. p. 560, lines 15-24, R. p. 563, lines 9-21) The Appellant met with Deputy Ethridge and denied that she had sold stolen copper wire and aluminum. (R. p. 563, line 24-p. 564, line 19) The Appellant brought in examples of the metal sheathing she had sold to Sunshine. (R. p. 564, lines 16-19) Notwithstanding, Deputy Ethridge proceeded to arrest her. The Appellant spent the better part of the day at the Orangeburg County Jail being booked and bonded out. (R. p. 564, lines 20-21) When the Sunshine Recycling video was available to review, Deputy Ethridge admitted that it showed that the Appellant did not bring in the copper wire and aluminum that was stolen from Aiken Electric. Deputy Ethridge dropped the charges against the Appellant. (R. p. 508, line 24-p. 510, line 9)

Mr. Goss never identified the Appellant as a suspect. Mr. Goss testified:

“Q Let me slow it down and break it up for you. Orangeburg County Sheriff’s Department determined that Meredith Huffman was a suspect, correct?

A Yes, sir.

Q And they determined that on the 17 of May 20109, correct?

A Yes, sir.

Q And in order to determine that Meredith Huffman was the suspect, listed as suspect one on the second page of Exhibit E, they obtained her name and the fact that she was a suspect, from information you provided, correct?

A No, sir.

MR. JOHNSON: Object –

Q Okay. What information did they get to link Meredith Huffman up as a suspect to this crime?

A The only information that Meredith Huffman had given to anyone was to Sunshine Recycling. I had no way of getting any information about anyone. My subject at that time was unknown and a black male, that’s what I had video to show and that’s what I had a witness that saw that night. So when the employee in the back told Joe that the lady that had just drove through dropped all of that off, that’s when Ms. Huffman became the suspect.” (R. p. 672, line 20-p. 673, line 18)

APPELLANT’S INCORRECT FACTUAL STATEMENTS AND REFERENCES TO THE RECORD

The Appellant’s Initial Brief states many incorrect factual statements. The Appellant’s Initial Brief contains references to the record do not support the incorrect factual statements. This has occurred repeatedly in Appellant’s Initial Brief. Misstated facts and incorrect references to the record cannot be used to create a genuine issue of material facts and to defeat a motion for summary judgment.

Aiken Electric calls the Court’s attention to the following:

(1) On pages 2-3 of the brief, the Appellant has stated that Mr. Goss identified a metal that the Appellant brought in as stolen from Aiken Electric. This is a misstatement of the record. Mr. Goss did not identify the metal that the Appellant brought in as being stolen or connected to her to the theft. He merely identified the metal as being from Aiken Electric. (R. p. 668, line 18-p. 669, line 21 quoted

above)

(2) On page 3 of the brief, the Appellant states that “from the video, Mr. Goss and Mr. Rich identified the Appellant as the person who sold the stolen metal from Aiken Electric to Sunshine”. This is an incorrect statement. Mr. Goss did not identify the Appellant as the person who sold the stolen metal to Sunshine. See R. p. 673, line 2-p. 674, line 4 quoted above. Joe did not identify the Appellant as the person who sold the stolen metal to Sunshine. See R. p. 855, lines 16–24 quoted above. According to Mr. Goss, Joe reported that a Hispanic employee had told him that the Appellant was the person who sold the stolen metal.

(3) On page 3, the Appellant’s brief states:

“Additionally, Mr. Goss told the officers that he “actually spoke and carried on a conversation with Huffman while she was waiting to get paid for the items that she had just brought in...[and] viewed the items after she left and identified them as being [from Aiken Electric]”

The reference to page 19 of the second Ethridge deposition does not support this purported factual statement. In fact this yet another misstatement. Deponent Ethridge, on his second deposition on page 19, actually testified:

“Q And did he tell you anything more than he just had a casual conversation with her?

A More or less that he had spoken to her. He had actually saw her there and spoken to her.

Q Do you know what – but at that point, did he – was there any indication that she was the person who was selling the stolen items? I mean, did Mark Goss say I spoke to Ms. Huffman?

A No, I – when he spoke to her, I don’t think, he had knowledge that she was the individual that possibly had taken the metal in.” (R. p. 553, lines 11-22)

(4) On page 3 of the brief, the Appellant states as follows:

“An employee of Aiken Electric, Charles Rushton, also told the Sheriff’s Department that ‘Mark Goss ha[d] the identity of the woman who sold the wire,’ referring again to Huffman.”

This is a misstatement. No reference is made to this record to support the statement.

(5) On page 3 of the brief, the Appellant states the following:

“Officer Aldridge testified that Sunshine Recycling and Aiken Electric expressed a great ‘sense of urgency’ to arrest Huffman.”

This is a mischaracterization of the record. Mr. Aldridge testified:

“Q You testified that Mr. Goss of Aiken Electric imposed a sense of urgency regarding this case; is that correct?

A That’s correct.

Q Is it – well, explain what you meant by that.

A He just – I’m trying to think of the best way to word this.

When I spoke with Mr. Goss, he expressed to me that he wanted the sheriff’s office to help him conclude this case, probably a little more so than normal. However, it’s not uncommon for someone to be antsy when their job is to recover stolen property.

Now he did say that he’s been trying to work with the sheriff’s office to get this problem resolved as soon as he possibly could.

Q Okay. I guess it’s fair to say he was eager to see that the sheriff’s department arrest someone for this alleged crime; is that correct?

MR. JOHNSON: Object to the form

THE WITNESS: Yes.” (R. p. 379, lines 3-24)

(6) On pages 3-4 of the brief, the Appellant states that all Sunshine Recycling and Aiken Electric had to do was to review the video surveillance. Neither had any duty to review it. Judge Murphy granted summary judgment on the negligence claim. Furthermore, the record confirms that Mr. Goss reviewed it. After he reviewed it, he contacted the Sheriff’s Department to report that the Appellant was not the person who brought the stolen goods to Sunshine. (R. p. 680, line 1-p. 681, line 1)

(7) On page 4 of the brief, the Appellant has stated the following:

“Based upon accusations of Sunshine Recycling and Aiken Electric, on May 21, 2010, the Sheriff’s Department issued an arrest warrant of Huffman for receiving stolen goods in violation of S.C. Code Ann. 16-13-180. (R. pp. 501-502).”

However, Deponent Ethridge testified that it was his responsibility to decide whether or when to seek an arrest warrant.

“Q And as the law enforcement representative with the sheriff’s department, are you the person who is responsible, in this case, for deciding if and whether a warrant would be sought?

MR. GOINGS: Object to the form of the question.

You can answer it.

THE WITNESS: Yeah, I had the final say so whether to go speak with the judge and seeing if we had enough probable cause, yes.

BY MR. JOHNSON:

Q Who is the person, in this case, who had the responsibility for making the decision as to whether to seek a warrant or not?

A I did.” (R. p. 578, line 20-p. 579, line 8)

(8) On page 5, the Appellant’s Initial Brief states:

“Officer Ethridge’s report stated, “*At this time I am not comfortable with this case due to the witnesses gave [sic] me false information the first time.*” (R. pp. 407; 512-513). (emphasis added).” This misstates the record. On deposition, Deputy Ethridge testified:

“Q -- due to the witnesses gave false information the first time. Did Mark Goss give you any false information?

A He was more – no. I mean, he – what he was giving was being relayed from what was at Sunshine. I mean, he – I mean, everything he had given me I would say, you know – because he knew what was taken and all this stuff. I mean, he –

Q He gave you the details on what was taken?

A Correct. I mean – no. I mean, I’m not saying that he -- I would say the only – the only false information that we’re speaking of is mainly what the individual in the back had –

Q Told.

A --had said that she was the only that actually had brought the metal in, and the video doesn’t show that.

Q Right. And does that—

A I’m not saying anybody lied, or I’m not trying –

Q Right.

A -- I’m just saying what they observed is not the same thing –

Q That the video –

A -- that’s on the video, and the video – if the video supported what they said, we would have been fine.

Q All right. Now let me ask you this, specifically.

A Okay.

Q You learned what the employees of Sunshine said through what Mr. Rich told you, correct?

- A Correct.
Q Not from anything Mr. Goss told you?
A No. It was coming from Mr. Rich.
Q And is it correct that Mr. Goss did not give you any false information?

MR. GOINGS: Object to the form of the question
You can answer it.

THE WITNESS: I mean, besides – I mean what – it’s according to what you’re going to say false, because if he was to tell me that Joel Rich’s people said that that – I mean, you see what I’m saying? I mean, I don’t recall him directly giving me anything that was more or less – I mean, what he – what took place at Aiken Electric – I mean, everything he told me, all that was true. I mean someone had –

BY MR. JOHNSON:

- Q Right.
A -- taken everything, to our knowledge, so. (R. p. 572, line 6-p. 574, line 1)

I.

SUMMARY JUDGMENT ON THE NEGLIGENCE CAUSE OF ACTION HAS NOT BEEN APPEALED BY THE APPELLANT AND IS THE LAW OF THE CASE

The circuit court judge granted the Respondents’ motion for summary judgment on the Appellant’s cause of action for negligence. The Appellant has not appealed that ruling. An unappealed ruling, right or wrong, is the law of the case. *Georgetown Cnty League of Women Voters v. Smith Land Co.*, 393 S.C. 350, 357, 713 S.E.2d 287, 291 (2011); *see also Warren v. Yarborough* 2012-UP-401, 2012 WL 10860503 (S.C. Ct. App. July 11, 2012) (the probate court order dated November 20, 2007, wherein the court found Appellant had breached his duty as Trustee was not appealed by Appellant. Thus, the findings of the probate court are the law of the case.). Thus, the ruling on the negligence cause of action and the findings upon which it is based are the law of the case.

II.

THE CIRCUIT COURT JUDGE CORRECTLY GRANTED SUMMARY JUDGMENT ON THE CAUSE OF ACTION FOR FALSE

IMPRISONMENT SINCE THE PLAINTIFF HAD FAILED TO OFFER EVEN A SCINTILLA OF EVIDENCE THAT AIKEN ELECTRIC PHYSICALLY RESTRAINED THE APPELLANT OR BY ITS WORDS OR CONDUCT CONSTRUCTIVELY RESTRAINED HER.

False imprisonment is the deprivation of one's liberty without justification. *Argoe v. Three Rivers Behavioral Health, LLC*, 392 S.C. 462, 710 S.E.2d 67 (2011). In order to establish a cause of action for false imprisonment, the evidence must prove: (1) that the defendant restrained the plaintiff; (2) that the restraint was intentional; and (3) that the restraint was unlawful. *Id.* False imprisonment is an intentional tort; negligence is not an element. *Gist v. Berkeley County Sheriff's Dep't.*, 336 S.C. 611, 619, 521 S.E.2d 163, 166 (Ct. App. 1999). Although the tort of false imprisonment is not limited to physical interference with a plaintiff's liberty, a plaintiff must demonstrate that she submitted to apprehension of force reasonably to be understood from the defendant's conduct, although no force is used and there is no threat of imminent use of force. *See Zimbelman v. Savage*, 745 F.Supp.2d 664 (D.S.C. 2010); *see also* 8 S.C. Jur.False Imprisonment A§7. An action for false imprisonment cannot be maintained where the Appellant was arrested by lawful authority. *Manley v. Manley*, 291 S.C. 325, 353 S.E.2d 312 (1987).

Quite simply, Appellant has failed to produce any evidence that Aiken Electric deprived her of her liberty in any way. No evidence was produced that Aiken Electric physically restrained Appellant or by its words or conduct, constructively restrained Appellant. Since Appellant has failed to offer even a scintilla of evidence that would support her claim of false imprisonment, Aiken Electric is entitled to summary judgment as a matter of law on the claim for false imprisonment.

The Appellant has argued that the circuit court judge ignored a well established principle that a private person can be liable for the tort of false arrest even if the police effectuated the arrest, citing

Wingate v. Postal Tel. & Cable Co., 204 S.C. 520, 528, 30 S.E.2d 307, 311 (1944). However, the later *Manley* decision makes it clear that false imprisonment cannot be maintained where the person is arrested by lawful authority.

Other language from the *Wingate* case is relevant here. In *Wingate*, the court said:

“If respondent was arrested by the police officers on their own volition, neither the messenger boy nor his employer could be held liable. Where a person merely directs the attention of a police officer to what he supposes to be a breach of the peace, or gives to such officer facts indicating such, and the officer, without other direction, arrests the offender on his own responsibility, the person who did nothing more than communicate the facts to the officer is not liable for causing the arrest, even though it is made without a warrant. See annotation in Annotated Cases, 1917-E., at page 404. Where a person has information or knowledge that the law has been violated, he not only has a right, but frequently it is his duty, to communicate such information or facts to the proper officer so as to give such officer the opportunity, if in his judgment it is proper to do so, to take whatever steps may be necessary to apprehend the offender. As said in *Burton v. McNeil*, 196 S.C. 250, 13 S.E.2d 10, 11, 133 A.L.R., 603. ‘Those who honestly seek the enforcement of the law *** and who are supported by circumstances sufficiently strong to warrant a cautious man in the belief that the party suspected may be guilty of the offense charged, should not be made unduly apprehensive that they will be held answerable in damages. At page 310-311 of 30 S.E.2d.

Here, Aiken Electric provided factual information to the Sheriff’s Department and honestly sought enforcement of the law *** and the circumstances were sufficiently strong to warrant a cautious man in the belief that the party suspected may be guilty of the offense charged. Such persons or entities should not be made unduly apprehensive that they will be held answerable in damages. After all, there was a Hispanic eyewitness who identified the Appellant.

In the South Carolina victims of crime have certain rights guaranteed by the South Carolina Constitution and by statute. Act 1 §24 of the South Carolina Constitution provides for the “Victim’s Bill of Rights. Act 1 §24(1) provides protection of victims, who are to be “free from intimidation, harassment or abuse”. S.C. Code Ann. §16-3-1505 which outlines the legislative intent of the statues

regarding victim's rights, and recognizes "****the civil and moral duty of victims of and witnesses to a crime to cooperate fully and voluntarily with law enforcement and prosecuting agencies ***[recognizes] the importance of the citizen cooperation to state and local law enforcement efforts ****"

The Circuit Court Judge, in ruling on the negligence claim, ruled:

"In addition, imposition of such a duty of care would be inconsistent to the rights and duties of a crime victim and a witness to a crime under S.C. Code Ann. Section 16-3-1505 *et seq.* Section 16-3-1505 states that the crime victims and witnesses to a crime have a civic and moral duty to cooperate fully and voluntarily with law enforcement. Nothing in the Act suggests that a victim cannot press law enforcement to proceed with an arrest. Law enforcement, not the crime victim and witnesses to a crime, has the duty to investigate a crime and to decide whether and when to seek a warrant."

This is now the law of the case.

Here, Mr. Goss, who had not seen the second video, never directed the deputy to arrest the Appellant. Sunshine's owner merely told the deputies that which was told to him by his Hispanic employee. The deputy who obtained the warrant, Deputy Ethridge testified as follows:

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